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The Philpot House sprawls over a woodéd knoll among the hills
along the Gunpowder Falls in the heart of Baltimore County. Only the
gambel-roofed end of the house is visible through the trees as one
approaches from the opposite side of the Falls on the Phoenix Road.
To view the entire structure one must enter the drive that curves up-
ward around the ice house and proceed just a little beyond it. From
that point the sight that greets the beholder will quicken the pulse
of anyone who appreciates early architecture,

The first time I saw the Philpot House was in the Library of
Congress, thumbing through the Maryland file of the Historic American
Building Survey. Tom Gleason was with me at the time, and we paused
over the four photographs of it. Though the location sounded familiar,
I could not recall ever having seen it and assumed that, like so many
other houses in the HABS collection, it was gone,

Just about a year later Jack Gleason and 1 were out on one of
our many "house hunting" expeditions, looking for "Partnership," a
1723 house built in Howard County and recently rebuilt on Stockton
Road by the Coopers. Taking a roundabout route we stumbled onto Phil-
pot Road and the house. Excited by the discovery, we quickly-expendod
the eight remaining exposures on the roll of film in the camera and
headed back to town to get Tom 2nd more film. When Tom saw the house,
he remembered having seen it in the HABS file; so we immediately went
to the Johns Hopkins Library to get the HABS Catalogue just to make
sure. Sunday we took Roy out to show him the discovery, and his re-
action was the same as ours of the day before.

Through Mrs. George, who lived on Mt. Vernon Place, we learned
that the house belonged to the Dashiells, who graciously gave
permission to go on the property to sketch and photograph the house.

The house is situated between the tidewater and the hill country
of the at#te and is unique in the manner in which its architecture
reflects this location. The wooden, gambrel roofed section follows
the lines of many in the tidewater region, where they are built of
wood or brick. The stone section is brown ledge-stone, a material
that is popular from Cockeysville northward into Pennsylvania,

The description of the Philpot House in the Historic American
Building Survey, which was recorded in 1936, reads simply: "Early
nineteenth-century house, Phoenix, Baltimore County, Maryland."
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The recording architect did not bother to record his nane.

Establishing a date of construction for an old house without any
examination of deeds, grants, wills or other written records is a
difficult task for anyone not thoroughly informed in the methods and
materials of colonial buildinge. It is unfortunate, therefore, that
neither Forman, Bwald nor Scarff was the recording architect.

A great deal of the charm of the Philpot House is derived from
its variety of materials and its several stages of construction and
remodeling. By examining each of these one can trace the house back
beyond the last quarter of the eighteenth century.

Before turning to an analysis of the house, it should be said
that the porch on the front with its concrete posts and heavy iron
chain is an unfortunate mistake dating from sometime within the last
fifty years. The porch is much too heavy in design and completely out
of harmony with the remainder of the house. The other exception is
the glassed-in conservatory at the back, perhaps added at the same
time or slightly earlier. These two features will be ignored in the
remainder of this analysis, and are commented upon caly to point up
the lack of artistic judgement and taste used in times of relative
abundance as compared with those earlier years when the house was
built.

First -- a look at the front and rear doors in the wooden section
of the house. The original doors were exchanged for the more fashion-
able Greek Revival style, with only two panels, sometime in the 1830's
or early 1840's, and four panels of etched ruby glass were inserted
into each of the transoms. A porch was added at the end of the house
overlooking the Falls, which made it necessary to cut a door into
the living room wall between the two windowsa. That the door was not
original can be deduced from the fact that nowhere else in the wooden
section is the proportion of window or door space so cramped. The
early builders achieved a degree of proper proportion that has not
been equaled since. llowever, if a porch was desired, this was the

most logical and architecturally suited location. Steps would have

‘descended from the center of the porch, and perhaps a walk at one

time crossed the lawn and proceeded on down the terraced gardens
below,
The handsome Federal mantel and the dado rail -- a feature not

used for long thereafter -- would indicate that the living room was

(2)
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thoroughly remodeled between 1795 and 1815. The dining room fireplace
was trimmed with a new mantel at about the same time, and a number
of doors that may have had only latches were fitted with iron box
locks that bear the seal of the "Eagle'" or the "Lion and Unicorn",
which were in common use at the close of the eighteenth century.

Adoor from the dining room leads to an extension, complete with
its own cellar, which may have been added between the turn of the cen-
tury and the 1830's. The addition of this extension blocked daylight
entering the dining room, and it is probably at this time that the
wall between the hall and the dining room was removed. This required
the stréightening of the stairway, and a vestibule or entry was
created at the front door. This deduction is based on the flat panel
doors found in each of these areas.

The door to the closet under the stairs is very old, and, under
several layers of paint, one discovers that the first color ever applied
is a dark rusty hue. The door of simple raised panels is hung on large
H&L hinges which are handmade and anchored with home-fo-ged nails
that have large, irregular heads. At the top of the treads and risers
of the stairs which form the back wall of this closet can be seen the
first of the original winder treads of the stairs, which originally
turned at this point,.

A plaster ceiling has been removed from the room which once com=-
prised the old hallway and tue dining room, exposing the beams in this
area. Two beams inserted to fill #e area once occupied by the stairs
do not match the others, which are original to the house and have a
beaded edge. Again, under traces of whitewash that preceded the plaster
ceiling, can be found evidence of the powdery old red paint. The beams
above that part of the room which was within the stone portion of the
house are even earlier and are very carefully hewn. All of the beams
still have in them the old hand-forged nails that held the ceiling
laths in place; they are in excellent condition.

The end girt of the gambrel roof portion of the house rests on
an encased corner post, clearly marking that point where the two rooms
are joined now into one. The other corner post is hidden behind the
stairway, but the lower part of it can be seen inside the stair closet.

The closet door to the left of the dining room fireplace dates

from the time the gambrel roof section was constructed as does the

€3

R e TL SO



Bh 21|
door into the living room. Over this latter door is the only section
of panelling found in the entire house. Its unfinished side is toward
the living room, which would indicate that it had been placed thefe
sometime after th.t room had been redecorated. It is most likely that
the living room had been at least partly panelled at one time, and
the door was moved from the left side of the living room fireplace
when the entry was created.

The woodwork in the chamber above the living room all appears
to be original except for a board shelf nailed to the top of the fire-
place moulding. Most of the doors on the second floor are hung on
hinges which match those on the stair closet door below.

Very early -- possibly before the gambrel roofed addition was
built -- small cell rooms had been added to the rear of the kitchen,
and then the roof of the kitchen was raised to accommodate a small
cell bedroom above.

Many other details of the house and its construction point to
how mistaken the nameless recording architect was. The encased corner
posts in the living room; tne wide, random w#idth boards of the flooring
throughout the house; the large openings of the fireplaces; and the
exposed ends of the joists in the stone section are but a few of the
witnesses to the ancient vintage of the house. It is hoped.that,as
the summer progresses and time permits a more thorough examination
of the house and perhaps some research of the records pertaining to
the land, more can be learned. It is possible that we are examining
a structure that has its beginning even before the close of the
seventeenth century, but this could only be traced through recorded

documents.
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MARYLAND'S COLONIAL RANGER SYSTEM
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Early in the last decade of the l17th-century , a series
of outposts were erected, in a line extending from Garrison, just
northwest of the present Baltimore City line, to the Susquehanna
River. Known as Rangers, the men who manned the outposts, had the
task of patrolling the frontier against hostile Indians, stirred
up by a renegade named Baron Castine.

Of the twenty outpost buildings erected across Baltimore
and Harford County, only & few remain that we can be certain of.
Fortunately the Headquarters house
at Garrison is still standing and
in uvse.Now two stories high , it
was built originally as one large
room and a loft.,A fireplace at one
end provided the heat and light
entered through small slits in the
thick stone walls.

The other buildings in the
system were for the most part
identical, the only difference
being in their length. The Rigby
house, just north of Dublin, in
Harford County was a part of the
chain and it too has su.vived the
years in good condition. One end
was demolished in the i8th-cen-
tury to make room for the wooden
addition.

If one were to draw a line
from the house at Garrison, north-
east, through the Rigby House to
the Susquehanna, he would discover
the Philpot house sets smack on it,
In the plan of the Philpot House
on the opposite page, the strong
resemblance to the rangers houses
can be seen.

As previously stated, when the time is available for some
real investigation, it may prove that the Philpot House has more
than its architectural history to recomend it.
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THE STONE SECTIUN WAS ERECTED FIRST AND ITS
APPEARANCE WAS VERY SIMILAR TO TIHOSE BUILT TO HOUSE THE RAN-
GER SYSTEM. THE SECOND FLOOR JOISTS WERE EXPOSED AT THE EAVES;
SEVERAL OF WHICH ARE STILL VISABLE IN THE AREA JUST ABOVE THE
KITCHEN DOOR.

WHEN THE SINGLE ROOM WAS DIVIDED IN HALF, A
FIREPLACE WAS ADDED AND PERHAPS OWING TO A GROWING FAMILY ,
A SMALL CELL BEDROOM WAS ALSO ADDED ABOVE A YET SMALLER CELL
AND A PORCH. THE EXTERIOR BOARDS HAVE A BEADED EDGE.

, POSSIBLY BUILT FOR A NEW BRIDE, THE GAMBREL
ROOFED ADDITION PROVIDED A LARGE BEDROOM, A SMALLER ONE AND
A NICELY PROPORTIONED LIVINGROOM, WITH VISABLE CORNER POSTS.
THE STAIR-HALL, PLACED BETWEEN THE LIVINGROOM AND THE OLD
DININGROOM WOULD HAVE HAD THE SAME EFFECT AS A CENTERHALL.
BY 1750 , CENTERHALL HOUSES WERE VERY POPULAR. )

STILL MORE SPACE WAS NEEDED TO HOUSE THE
FAMILY, BOTH THE YOUNG AND THE OLD, AS WELL AS THE EXTRA
FARM HELP, SO THE LONG OUTSHUT, BEHIND THE DININGROOM WAS
ADDED. A CELLAR BENEATH‘HAD ITS OWN OUI'SIDE ENTRANCE. THE
LIVINGROOM HAD BEEN REMODEL&D BY THIS TIME, IN THE FEDERAL
STYLE. THE OTHER CHANGES ON THE GROUND FLOOR WERE MOST
LIKELY COMPLETED IN THIS TIME PERIOD.

G
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. AS A FINAL PHASE IN THE HISTORY OF THE
HOUsE, A PANTRY WAS ADDED INCOUNSPICUOUSLY AT THE REAR, NEXT
TO THE KITCHEN DOCR. THE MAIN DOORS WERE EXCHANGED FOR} THOSE
THEN IN FASHION AND A PORCH FOR RELAXATION nAS ADDED 10 THE
LIVINGROOM END OF THE HOUSE, OV-RLOORING THE TERRACED GARDEN
AND THE FALLS. REMEMUBERING THe " SPIRIT % OF THE ERA -- THE
SATISFACTION OF KNOWING THAT ONE HAD AT LAST ARRIVED FROM
THUSE DAYS whrN HIS P1ONEER ANCESTORS HAD WORKED SO HARD TO
ESTABLISH THIS COMFORTABLE ENVIRONMENT FOR HIM -- AND REMEM-
BERING Thk WILLD AND ROMANTIC VISTAS IN THE "HUDSON RIVER
VALLEY SCHOOL"™ OF PAINTINGS, THEN SO POPULAR, WE CAN VISUAL-
1ZE THIS RURAL FAMILY SPENDING A PLEASANT SUNDAY AFTERNOON
‘ENJOYING THEIR OuN WILD AND ROMANTIC VISTA FROM THE PORCH.

BA-L N
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1638 - ROBLKT PHILPOT 27

In 1638 Leonard Calvert, the Lieutenant Governor of Maryland,
in a letter to his brother, the Lord Proprietary, wrote a graphic
account of the reduction to obedience of Kent Island, the inhabi-
tants of which, instigated by William Claiborne, had continued to
ignore the authority of Lord Baltimore since the colony's founding.

He noted that there were about 120 men on the island and that
he had named one ROBERT PHILPOT from among them to be commander of
Kent Island. He wrote

"] have sent you herewith a letter from Mr,

Robert Philpot of Kent (who hath at this present
the commaund of the Ieland) to his father the
keeper of Hyde Park, I pray cause it to be deliv-
ered unto him and finde some occasion to commend
his sonne unto him for his faire carraige here,

as he doth deserve, for he came in at first claime
I made of the Ielunders submission to your Pattent,
and incouraige his father 1 pray what you can to
supply him this yeare, for that I understand is
the intent of his letter to him.,"

The name PHILPOT appears on a street sign in one of the oldest
sections of Baltimore, Fells Point. It also appears on a road sign
in Baltimore County -- the road leading to the PHILPOT HOUSE.

Almost three centuries after ROBERYT PHILPOT, we find a MISS
KITTY PHILPOT on the banks of the Gunpowder Falls in her ancestral
home, which she stubbornly preserved during her lifetime.

Again, when the time is found to do some investigation, we

may find some interesting connections.
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